1984

Ronald L. And Shirley Diane Baxter, Husband And Wife And Rio Vista Oil Ltd., A Utah Corp. An Involuntary Plaintiff v. Utah Department Of Transportation v. Robert Rees Dansie And Marie Grow Dansie, His Wife; Davis County Com-Missioners; Davis County Assessor; Davis County Recorder; And Weber Co-Unty, A Body Politic of the State of Utah : Brief of Piantiffs-Appeliants

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants take this appeal from a Summary Judgment entered

in an action wherein they seek to quiet title to 6.00 acres of unimproved real property allegedly located in Davis County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Summary Judgment was entered in this matter on March 3, 1983, and Notice of Appeal was filed and entered on March 31, 1983; thereafter, on or about April 8, 1983, respondent prepared and mailed to counsel for appellants a further document, entitled Final Order, wherein title was purportedly quieted in the name of Utah Department of Transportation as to the real property which is the subject matter of this litigation and an additional 12-acre tract.¹

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek to have the Summary Judgment and the Final Order reversed and set aside and an Order remanding this matter for trial for the purpose of determining title, as between appellants, respondent and such other parties as are necessary to a final title determination, to the subject lands and such other lands as may be

1. The Final Order does not appear in the Record on Appeal nor (as of May 3, 1983) is there a Docket entry or other evidence of the document in the Weber County Clerk's office. Respondent's counsel has not advised the writer of this brief that the Final Order might have been intercepted or never signed by the Court; accordingly it is set forth in the Appendix for reference purposes.

affected by the true location of the county line between Weber and Davis counties.

STATEMENT OF MATERIAL FACTS

Rule 56 (c) provides that summary judgment shall be rendered "... if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Accordingly, since appellants hereinafter raise an issue on appeal challenging the procedure followed by respondent in its Motion for Summary Judgment, the material facts hereinafter set forth will be restricted to matters set forth in the pleadings (Complaint-- R. 1 and Answer-- R. 62), the Affidavits of Ronald L. Baxter (R.127) and Stephen M. Smith (R. 236), and the admissions of fact-- which appellants herewith stipulate to-- contained in this Statement.

Appellants brought this action against the Department of Transportation of the State of Utah to quiet title to 6.00 acres of unimproved land claimed to be located in Davis County (R. 1), the land being valuable primarily as a source of gravel-type materials.

The Department of Transportation resisted, claiming that it is the owner of the subject tract because the land is located in Weber County (R. 62).

On May 26, 1969 Davis County issued a Tax Deed (R. 100) to Thomas Hollberg, Ronald Baxter and Ronald A. Toone, one-third each, as tenants in common, to 18.00 acres of land in Davis County in the S. $\frac{1}{2}$ of the N. $\frac{1}{2}$ of SW $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 25, 5 N., 1 W., Salt Lake Base and Meridian. Thereafter, the purchasers divided the lands, and on September 29, 1970, Baxters acquired the 6.00 acre tract which is the subject of this litigation (R. 116, 117).

On or about August 20, 1975, Johnson Construction Company entered upon the westerly 6.00 acre tract, which had been previously conveyed to Ronald A. Toone, and began to excavate and crush gravel for a road construction job. Toone then brought action in the Second District Court of Davis County in September, 1975 against Johnson Construction Company to recover the value of the gravel materials removed, but he was unsuccessful in the litigation because a jury held that the Toone tract of land was located in Weber County and, accordingly, Davis County had no authority to tax the land and to issue a Tax Deed. In the Toone case the matter went to the jury on similar Instructions submitted by both parties which, in effect,

directed the jury to find whether, as of January 4, 1896, the Weber River was located where it then existed at the time of trial (and presently exists) or whether in 1896 the river was located approximately 1,000 feet farther north, which would have placed it north of the Toone tract (R. 143, 145). It was admitted by both litigants in the Toone case that the location of the Weber River, as established by law, constituted the boundary line between the two counties.

The jury in the Toone case found the location of the Weber River in 1896 to be its present location, thus placing the Toone parcel north of the Weber River, and Toone's action against Johnson Construction Company failed. Judgment on the Verdict in that action was entered on January 7, 1977 (R. 45).

At no time during the Toone litigation, or prior thereto or at any time since, did Johnson Construction Company attempt to remove gravel materials from either the Hollberg or Baxter tracts; nevertheless, Johnson Construction Company filed a motion in the Toone case to join the Hollbergs and Baxters in order " ... to have a complete adjudication of the ownership of the properties in question." (R. 49). Respondent's counsel in this action, Stephen C. Ward, represented Johnson Construction Company in the Toone case,

listing his appearance on all papers in that litigation as " Assistant Attorney General"; however, at no time was the Utah Department of Transportation made a party to the Toone litigation nor did it seek to become a party. Obviously, since Johnson Construction Company had taken no materials for which damages would have been paid from the Hollberg or Baxter properties, they were not ordered to be made parties in the Toone litigation.

The Baxter tract of land, which lies contiguous to and immediately east of the Toone tract, was not disturbed until personnel of the Department of Transportation entered upon the land in the spring of 1978 and commenced to removal gravel therefrom (R.4). Accordingly, Baxters filed a Notice of Claim with the Department of Transportation of the State of Utah on May 10, 1978, as provided by Section 63-30-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953(as amended, 1965). In their Notice of Claim they asserted title to the subject tract and objected to the removal of gravel therefrom. No response was made by the Department of Transportation of the State of Utah or by the Attorney General within the statutory period of one year, and this action was then brought.

Baxters' Complaint (R. 1) alleges their ownership to the

subject 6.00 acres of land derived from and through the Tax Deed from Davis County (which originally included 18.00 acres), that the defendant Department of Transportation claims title to the property, that they timely filed their Notice of Claim as provided by statute, that no response was made by defendant Department of Transportation, and that their title should be quieted against the Department of Transportation of the State of Utah. The State's Answer (although not so designated-- R. 62) contains a general denial; and it affirmatively asserts, among other things, that the Davis County tax sale was invalid, that the property is located in Weber County and at all times has been taxed by Weber County, that Davis County had no authority to sell the subject tract at tax sale and did not follow the proper statutory procedures pertaining to such sales, that plaintiffs failed to file their claim within the one-year period provided by Section 63-30- 12 (as amended 1978), that the Toone case was res judicata and that Baxter should be collaterally estopped from bringing this action because he was a witness in that case.

Although the Toone case was tried on the basis of the location of the Weber River as it existed on January 4, 1896, Baxters in this

action take the position that the Weber River's course has been substantially altered since the county lines were first established, and that the river's location on January 10, 1866, as established by the Territorial laws of the State of Utah and as adopted by the Constitution of the State of Utah should govern. Based upon this contention, Baxters maintain that the Weber River in 1866 was located more than 1,000 feet farther to the north, thus placing their tract of land in Davis County.

Utah Department of Transportation moved for Summary Judgment in this case on the grounds that Baxters were judicially barred from suing to quiet title against the State of Utah because of the decision in the Toone litigation (R. 84), claiming that the boundary line between Weber and Davis counties was finalized in that case and that judicial notice should be taken of that fact (R. 106), and that Ronald L. Baxter was further bound by the Toone decision for the reason that he appeared as a witness in the Toone case. Baxter countered by Affidavit (R. 127), asserting pointedly that his only contact with the Toone case was that of an expert witness furnishing surveying testimony. Department of Transportation did not counter Mr. Baxter's Affidavit and did not furnish any other admissible

evidence concerning that matter.

The Second District Court, Hon. Calvin Gould, Judge, granted Summary Judgment in favor of defendant Department of Transportation, and the same was entered on March 3, 1983. No formal Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered, but the Court's Memorandum Decision (R. 249) held that (a) Baxters were bound by the decision in the Toone v. Johnson Construction Company case under the doctrine of collateral estoppel since Ronald L. Baxter testified as a witness therein and " ... was interested in its result.", and was therefore in privity with Toone; that (b) the Court had previously found the Tax Deed from Davis County, of which it took judicial notice, to be void; and that (c) the Court had finally decided the location of the boundary line between Weber and Davis counties in the Toone case, of which it also took judicial notice.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LOWER COURT AND RESPONDENT BOTH FOLLOWED IMPROPER PROCEDURES IN A SUMMARY JUDGMENT SITUATION.

A motion for summary judgment has been recognized by the courts as an extension of a motion for judgment on the pleadings. By permitting

either or both parties to file affidavits and other admissible evidence or admissions, cases can sometimes be disposed of without the burden of an unnecessary trial. However, Rule 56 (c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure limits consideration to "... the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, ..." The foregoing requisites were summarized in the matter of In re Williams' Estates, 10 U.2d 83, 348 P. 2d 683, where this court held that --

" A summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions show that there is no issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."

.....

"... without giving plaintiff the opportunity to present ... evidence (which plaintiff claims she can produce) in a trial we cannot hold as a matter of law that plaintiff is not entitled to recover."

(Underlining added)

The Record on Appeal in this matter is replete with Memorandum Briefs filed by respondent wherein carefully excerpted exhibits and documents from the case of Toone v. Johnson Construction Company were added to support respondent's position. Inasmuch as a motion for summary judgment is primarily handled by oral argument and

briefs and documentation, it is not always possible for the opposing party to raise objections and keep such items completely out of the Record on Appeal as would be done if the offering of such items in evidence were attempted at trial. Nevertheless, appellants repeatedly objected to the procedure, pointing out that respondent "... has carefully sorted out and selected facts peculiar to its own version of the matter, most of which lack materiality..." (R. 119), engendering such retorts from respondent as the following:

" The Plaintiffs neither controverted the stated facts nor attempted to state any additional facts. It must then be assumed that the Defendant's statement of facts must be true."

Also, in oral argument:

"Mr. Ward: ' It is always amazing to me, your Honor, that when I listen to his side and compare it with our side, there is no similarity whatsoever...'

THE COURT: ' That's generally what makes a lawsuit.' "

(R. 268)

It is not proper for the moving party seeking summary judgment to reach out and, by way of brief or simple argument, raise matters which are not properly admitted, nor should the movant attempt to shift its burden of proof to the defending party by such tactics.

The identical Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure contains several annotated cases which advance the foregoing proposition:

"Summary judgment is neither method of avoiding necessity for proving one's case nor clever procedural gambit whereby claimant can shift to his adversary his burden of proof on one or more issues."

U. S. v. Dibble, C. A. Cpl. 1970, 429 F. 2d 598

Further:

" Admissibility of evidence on motion for summary judgment is governed by rules of evidence applicable at trial."

Roucher v. Traders & General Ins. Co., 235 F. 2d 423

Similarly, in the recent case of Schaer v. Utah Department of Transportation (No. 18009, filed January 10, 1983), this Court quoted from an earlier case, saying:

" Upon a motion for summary judgment, the courts ought to recognize, as a minimum, that the opposing party produce some evidentiary matter in contradiction of the movant's case or specify in an affidavit the reason why he cannot do so."

Nor is it sufficient for a lower court to take " judicial notice" of another case in the manner outlined in the Memorandum Decision on file herein (R. 249). Rule 9 of the Utah Rules of Evidence sets forth facts which may be judicially noticed by a trial court, but

the rule does not specifically include the taking of judicial notice of the record in another action in another case. At any rate, Rule 10 provides that the judge "... afford each party reasonable opportunity to present to him information relative to the propriety of taking judicial notice of a matter or to the tenor of the matter to be noticed."

Under the federal cases interpreting Rule 56 (c) it has been held :

"Grant of a summary judgment would not be sustained on basis of judicial notice of a court's prior case, where trial court did not inform parties as to what he noticed, and in his order granting summary judgment merely stated he referred to the record in a prior action, but failed to include any portions of the record of such prior action in his order."

Soley v. Star & Herald Company, C. A. Canal Zone 1968,
390 F. 2d 364

"Before an action may be summarily dismissed on ground of res judicata, defense of res judicata must appear from the face of complaint or the record of the prior case must be received in evidence."

Guam Inv. Co. v. Central Building, Inc., C.A. Guam 1961,
288 F. 2d 19

46 Am. Jur. 2d, Judgments, Sections 599 and 600 cover the matter at hand:

"Sec. 599. - Necessity of proof of record.

The question sometimes arises whether it is necessary to offer or introduce evidence of the record of a prior judgment set up as a bar or estoppel, or whether it may be established by judicial notice. Although there is some authority in support of the rule that a court will take judicial notice of a judgment previously rendered by it and sought to be made available as a basis for the application of the doctrine of res judicata, at least where such judgment is referred to in the pleadings, a court ordinarily will not take judicial notice of a judgment rendered in a different action; it is generally held that the existence and contents of a judgment sought to be made available as a basis for the application of the doctrine of res judicata must be proved by offering the record or a copy thereof in evidence, whether the judgment was rendered by the court trying the principal case, or by another court. It has also been adjudged that oral testimony of a witness relating to facts established by a judgment is, under the best evidence rule, inadmissible where proper objection is made."

"Sec. 600 Necessity of proof of whole record.

Ordinarily, questions as to the effect of judgments as res judicata cannot be decided from the judgment alone, but must be determined by the aid of the entire record, and the general rule is that proof of the whole record must be introduced where a party intends to avail himself of a judgment as an adjudication on the subject matter, particularly where it is material to show the premises and grounds on which the judgment is based, or the jurisdiction of the court rendering the judgment. Under this rule, a judgment entry alone unaccompanied by any part of the record or an explanation of its absence, is not admissible in evidence, notwithstanding that it emanates from a court of general jurisdiction and contains general recitals of jurisdiction."

(Underlining added)

This Court has adopted the above-quoted reasoning in the case of Carter v. Carter (Utah 1977), 563 P.2d 177.

The lower court was insistent that the other Tax Deed purchasers and Weber County be brought into the litigation (R.160), but it refused Baxters' motion to join Monroc(R.229), though the Affidavit of Stephen M. Smith, manager of the real property department of that company, asserted that Utah Department of Transportation "... claims title to...approximately eight (8) acres of land belonging to Monroc, Inc. in the area north of the Weber River as now located." and that the State of Utah has "... trespassed upon and removed gravel materials from Monroc's lands in the S. W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of the SW $\frac{1}{4}$ of said Section 25 which lie north of the Weber River as now located, without any right whatsoever..." (R. 236).

Weber County was served with the Third Party-Complaint, but the lower court, in the final analysis, disregarded its own order requiring that Weber County be brought into the action and proceeded to summary judgment, stating in its Memorandum Decision (R. 251) that it "... is unfortunate in this case that neither of the subject counties saw fit to enter this litigation and thus protect their citizens by causing the proper determination of a correct boundary." Actually, however, Weber County duly filed its Answer

to the Amended Third-Party Complaint (R. 226), asserting therein that respondent's Complaint " fails to state a cause of action against defendant Weber County...", that it denied " allegations 1 through 6 or parts thereof ..." of the Complaint, and that the Third-Party Complaint be dismissed and that Weber County have judgment against the Utah Department of Transportation for costs and attorney's fees incurred in defending the action.

It is highly unusual for a lower court to order the inclusion of an affected governmental agency into a litigation and then, as here, proceed to summary judgment and a ruling adverse to the same governmental agency brought into the action by its own ruling. The subject property lies south (on the Davis County side) of the Interstate Freeway which proceeds east up through Weber Canyon, thus making the subject tract physically isolated, in part, from access by Weber County, and any transfer of ownership to the Utah Department of Transportation certainly eliminates any possibility that Weber County would receive property taxes from the subject lands in future years. There is the further matter that open gravel pit operations create special problems of surveillance, control, policing and possible nuisances, thus making it further probable that

Weber County would possibly prefer that Davis County should keep the property within the latter's jurisdiction. At any rate, and irrespective of whatever position Weber County might have ultimately taken in the proceedings, the lower court should not have proceeded to summary judgment without considering its position. Likewise, in order to properly arrive at a determination of title in the area which could have been affected by any sudden change of the Weber River since 1866, Monroc, Inc., and any other owners of similarly situated tracts of land, should have been brought into the litigation in order to effect a final determination of titles.

Respondent's high-grading of the documents and exhibits taken from the file in the Toone case so as to advance matters favoring its own position should not be condoned nor allowed to substitute for the admission into evidence of the entire record. Further, the arguments set forth in its various Memorandum briefs seeking summary judgment, being devoid of any affidavits, admissions, stipulations or other admissible evidence, cannot possibly be upheld by argumentative statements volunteered by counsel for respondent. The lower court compounded the problem by ordering Weber County into the litigation so that there could be a proper determination of the boundary line between the two counties, but chose to ignore the

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