1983

Ronald L. And Shirley Diane Baxter, Husband And Wife And Rio Vista Oil Ltd., A Utah Corp. An Involuntary Plaintiff v. Utah Department Of Transportation v. Robert Rees Dansie And Marie Grow Dansie, His Wife; Davis County Com-Missioners; Davis County Assessor; Davis County Recorder; And Weber Co-Unty, A Body Politic of the State of Utah : Brief of Defendants- Respondents Utah Department Of Transportation And Third-Party Defendants Weber And Davis County

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT FOLLOWED PROPER PROCEDURES IN GRANTING OF THE RESPONDENT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

It appears that Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel has in

his arguments attempted to cite all the criteria that should be followed in determining when a party should be granted a Summary Judgment, but then failed to state what facts were in dispute. Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure states the following:

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel is very skillful in accusing Defendants-Respondents' counsel of only quoting and using these facts and documents which support their position. At all times during the proceedings of the two cases, Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel has been afforded every opportunity to object to any facts and/or documents which were inadmissible or irrelevant and therefore, should not have been considered by the Trial Court. Defendants-Respondents can only submit to this Court that the only real objection to the documents and facts used are that Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel feels the facts and documents are detrimental to his clients case, but cannot legally keep the documents from consideration by this Court.

On Page 11 of their Brief, Plaintiffs-Appellants cite an excerpt from a transcript of one of the hearings and give

the page as 268. The quote is actually contained on page 274, and came as a result of a hearing wherein Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel attempted to cite facts to the Trial Court as reasons for allowing an adjoining landowner (Monroc) to intervene in the present lawsuit, when they had nothing whatsoever to do with the present lawsuit and with Plaintiffs-Appellants invalid tax title. (R. 281) If this Court will read the transcript (R. 268-286), it will be readily apparent that the disparity existed in the facts as they relate to whether Plaintiffs-Appellants should be allowed to have an adjoining landowner (Monroc) intervene in the present action. The facts that Plaintiffs-Appellants are attempting to have this Court believe existed with respect to Monroc, do not pertain to the facts as exist in the present action.

Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel cites only a portion of this Court's decision in Schaer v. UDOT. (No. 18009 January 10, 1983). The end of the quote reads as follows:

Where ... the materials presented by the moving party are sufficient to entitle him to a directed verdict [as a matter of law] and the opposing party fails either to offer counter-affidavits or other materials that raise a credible issue [of fact] or to show that he has evidence not then available, summary judgment may be rendered for the moving party.

The Court in the Schaer case upheld the Trial Court's granting of the Summary Judgment because its ruling was sup-

ported by uncontroverted facts.

Plaintiffs-Appellants (on Page 13 of their Brief) cite Rule 10 of the Utah Rules of Evidence that the Judge "... afford each party reasonable opportunity to present to him information relative to the propriety of taking judicial notice of a matter or to the tenor of the matter to be noticed."

Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel was the attorney of record in the case of Toone v. LeGrande Johnson (Civil No. 20915) and therefore, was intimately familiar with its contents. What Plaintiffs-Appellants' counsel fails to cite are the facts which he feels the Trial Court erroneously found to exist or judicially noticed which he now disputes. Whether Monroc, as noted above, should have been joined in this lawsuit has nothing whatsoever to do with the issues raised by this proceeding, i.e., whether the Davis County tax sale was valid or not. Monroc's chain of title had nothing whatsoever to do with the tax sale in question. (R. 268-286)

Any claims of the Plaintiffs-Appellants that deal with Defendant-Respondent Weber County should be summarily disposed of, since they have joined in as a Respondent in the present appeal. It is, therefore, inappropriate for Plaintiffs-Appellants to attempt to raise issues that solely be-

long to the Respondent, Weber County.

POINT II

THE COUNTY BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN DAVIS AND WEBER COUNTY WAS DETERMINED IN THE CASE OF TOONE v. JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION COMPANY . (DAVIS DISTRICT COURT CIVIL NO. 20915)

On Page 19 of the Plaintiffs-Appellants' Brief, it states there is not a single identical litigant in either the present case or the Toone v. LeGrande Johnson case. The judgment in the Toone case (R. 106-107), should readily disclose that Davis County, Davis County Commission, Davis County Assessor, Davis County Recorder and Robert Rees and Marie Grow Dansie, his wife, were all parties to that action as well as the present one before this Court.

It becomes interesting at this point to speculate if Toone had prevailed in his case, whether the present Plaintiffs-Appellants would be arguing that the Toone case is not dispositive as to the validity of the tax sale in question. It would seem logical that Plaintiffs-Appellants would then be arguing res judicata, estoppel and judicial notice so that they would not have to re-try the same issues that were tried in the Toone case.

The important factor at this time for this Court to consider is that all of the tax sale purchasers derived their title from the original tax sale and tax deed from Davis County (R. 100), and were dependent upon the property

in question being situate in Davis County.

One of the facts this Court should consider is that the present Plaintiffs-Appellants were given notice of the pendency of the Toone action. (R. 103, 104, 106, 107) In fact, as early as November of 1976, the present Plaintiff-Appellant, Ron Baxter, as well as the Davis County Recorder, Davis County Assessor, and Robert Dansie were listed as witnesses who would testify on behalf of the Plaintiff in the Toone case. (See attached Exhibit "I") It must be noted that although the Respondent, Davis County now joins in opposing the Plaintiffs-Appellants' appeal, that it, along with Dansie, opposed the Respondent, Utah Department of Transportation in the trial of the Toone case.

One of the most important facts that emerges from the Toone Judgment is that the Respondent, Davis County changed its plat maps, tax records and refunded any prior taxes the Plaintiffs-Appellants may have paid on the six acres in question. (R. 108, 109, 110) The foregoing was done during the year of 1977, and yet the Plaintiff-Appellants failed to state any cause of action in its Complaint against the Respondent, Davis County. (R. 1, 2, 3) The Respondent, Davis County then recognized that the six acres in dispute was located in Weber County and consequently, the tax sale deed under which the Plaintiffs-Appellants acquired

their title was void and invalid ab initio.

On Page 21 of the Plaintiffs-Appellants' Brief, they cite the procedure for changing county lines. The citation is totally inapplicable. There was no intent to change any boundary lines, but rather the Toone case only served to establish where in fact, the county line was between Davis and Weber Counties.

Generally, to raise the defense of res judicata, it requires that both actions must involve the same parties, their privities and the same cause of action. An exception exists when a person who was not a party is bound by the results of the first action where the claim he subsequently brings involves the same issue as adjudicated in the original action. This doctrine is known as collateral estoppel. Idaho State University v. Mitchel v. Bingham Mechanical and Metal Products, 97 Idaho 724, 552 P.2d 776 (1976). The trend of recent cases has approved the foregoing doctrine. Richards v. Hudson, 26 Utah 2d 1131, 485 P.2d 1044 (1971).

The Utah Supreme Court in International Resources v. Dunfield, 599 P.2d 515, 516 (1979) held that "The principle which underlies the doctrine ... [of] collateral estoppel, is that when there has been a proper adjudication upon a controversy, and the judgment has become final, that should

settle the matter and there should be no further litigation thereon."

The general standard to use to determine if collateral estoppel can be applied to a particular case was initially identified by the California Supreme Court in Bernhard v. Bank of America Nat'l Trust and Savings Assoc., 19 Cal.2d 807, 122 P.2d 892 (1942). Along with other State Supreme Courts, the Utah Supreme Court adopted the Bernhard standard. Wilde v. Min-Century Ins. Co., 635 P.2d 417 (Utah 1981); Searle Bros. v. Searle, 588 P.2d 689 (Utah 1978). In Searle Bros. at 691, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

In Bernhard v. Bank of America Nat'l Trust & Savings Assoc. the California Supreme Court considered the question of the applicability of res judicata as a basis for applying the collateral estoppel doctrine and identified the following three tests as being determinative:

1. Was the issue decided in the prior adjudication identical with the one presented in the action in question?
2. Was there a final judgment on the merits?
3. Was the party against whom the plea is asserted a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication?

In a subsequent opinion, the California Supreme Court recognized the necessity for a fourth test: "Was the issue in the first case competently, fully, and fairly litigated?" These four tests have been adopted by the majority of jurisdictions as the correct standard to apply.

Pursuant to the first test of the Bernhard standard, the issue presented in the instant case is identical of the issue presented in the prior action in Civil No. 20915. In both the prior action and the current action the main issue was the location of the property in question (the entire eighteen acres), of which six acres is described in the Plaintiffs-Appellants tax sale deed. In the prior action in Civil No. 20915, the jury found that the property in question ($S\frac{1}{2}$ of $N\frac{1}{2}$ of the $SW\frac{1}{4}$ of Section 25, 5 N., 1 W., S.L.M. containing 18 acres) was and is located in Weber County; and therefore, Davis County improperly assessed and sold the property at the tax sale.

In the prior action in Civil No. 20915 there was a final judgment on the merits. This satisfied the second test of the Bernhard standard. In the prior action, witnesses on behalf of both parties testified as to the location of the property in question. The current Appellant, Ronald Baxter, testified on the behalf of the previous Plaintiff, Toone. A jury was impaneled and on December 16, 1976, a final judgment against the previous Plaintiff was entered. (R. 106, 107)

In the instant case, only the Plaintiffs-Appellants must be parties or in privity with a party to the prior action in Civil No. 20915 to satisfy the third test of the

Bernhard standard. Mutuality of parties is not essential in asserting collateral estoppel. Bernhard, supra: Wilde v. Mid-Century Ins. Co., 635 P.2d 417 (Utah 1981).

In Searle Bros., the Utah Supreme Court provided the definition of a person in privity. That Court stated:

The legal definition of a person in privity with another, is a person so identified in interest with another that he represents the same legal right. This includes a mutual or successive relationship to rights in property. Our Court has said that as applied to judgments or decrees of court, privity means "one whose interest has been legally presented at the time." Id. at 691.

Pursuant to the Court's definition of privity in the Searle Bros. case, the current Appellants are in privity with the prior Plaintiff in Civil No. 20915 because they both represent the same legal right.

The current Appellant, Ronald Baxter, along with the prior Plaintiff, Ronald Toone, and another purchaser, Thomas Holberg, purchased the property in question at the Davis County tax sale. The tax deed stated that the current Appellant, Ronald Baxter, the prior Plaintiff, Ronald Toone, and Thomas Holberg (Rio Vista Oil) each owned an undivided one-third interest in the property in question. (R. 100) Rio Vista Oil and the current Appellants, by quit-claim deeds, conveyed their interest in the westerly six acres of the property in question to the prior Plaintiff, Ronald

Toone. (R. 113-117) By quit-claim deeds, Thomas Holberg (Rio Vista Oil) and the prior Plaintiff, Ronald Toone, conveyed their interest in the middle six acres of the property in question to the current Appellants. (R. 113-118)

As shown by the conveyances, the current Plaintiffs-Appellants and the prior Plaintiff in the action in Civil No. 20915 are in privity by purchase concerning the middle six acres and the westerly six acres of the property in question, when they purchased the property in question at the tax sale. Therefore, pursuant to the Utah Supreme Court's definition of a person in privity with another, the current Plaintiffs-Appellants and the prior Plaintiff are so identified in interest with the same property (S½ of N½ of the SW½ of Section 25, 5 N. 1 W., S.L.M. containing 18 acres) as to represent the same legal right.

In the prior action in Civil No. 20915, the issue was the location of the entire 18 acres. The prior Plaintiff (Toone), litigated this issue and a final judgment against him resulted. The current Plaintiffs-Appellants testified as an interested witness at that trial. The current Plaintiffs-Appellants' interest in the middle six acres of the property in question has been legally represented in the action in Civil No. 20915; thus, this satisfied the Court's definition of privity in Searle Bros. Therefore, the

current Plaintiffs-Appellants must be collaterally estopped from litigating the issue concerning the location of the property in question.

Pursuant to the fourth test of the Bernhard standard, the issue as to the location of the property in question in the prior action in Civil No. 20915 was competently, fully, and fairly litigated.

In the prior action, there was a jury trial and the issue was heard on its merits. The current Plaintiffs-Appellants, Ronald Baxter, was a witness in the prior action; therefore, he had an opportunity to contest the issue. Also, the current Plaintiffs-Appellants must feel that the issue was competently presented because they employed the same legal counsel as did the prior Plaintiff. However, the existence of a full and fair opportunity to contest the issue in the prior adverse action is not the only criteria Courts use for the application of collateral estoppel. The Court in State Farm Fire & Gas Co. v. Century Home Company, Inc., 275 Or. 97, 105, 550 P.2d 1185, 1189 (1976), held that: "The Court must also consider the fairness under all the circumstances of precluding a party." That Court further stated:

Once the court has concluded that the evidence is sufficient to establish that an identical issue was actually decided in a previous action, "prima facie the first judg-

ment should be conclusive." The burden then shifts to the party against whom estoppel is sought to bring to the court's attention circumstances indicating the absence of a full and fair opportunity to contest the issue in the first action or other considerations which would make the application of preclusion unfair. Whether the proffered circumstances and considerations warrant a conclusion that the litigant lacked a "full and fair" opportunity to litigate the issue and that it would be otherwise "unfair" to preclude him from contesting the issue again are likewise questions of law. Collateral estoppel involves a policy judgment balancing the interests of the administration of justice, and this court reserves the final word as to where the balance is struck in any given case. Id. at 105, 1189.

In the instant case, the Court must also consider the Respondents' burden of relitigating this issue. If the Court does not allow the current Plaintiffs-Appellants to be collaterally estopped from relitigating this issue, the Court is then allowing the Plaintiffs-Appellants the unfair opportunity of litigating the same issue twice. This would result in a waste of the Court's time, as well as the possibility of inconsistent judgments.

The Court must find, as a matter of law, that Plaintiffs-Appellants have had a fair and full opportunity to contest this issue and that they must be collaterally estopped from litigating this issue again. Thus, Summary Judgment granted in favor of the Respondents should then be affirmed.

POINT III

A PARTY WHO WAS A WITNESS IN A PRIOR ACTION,
FULLY ACQUAINTED WITH ITS CHARACTER AND OBJECT
AND INTERESTED IN ITS RESULTS, IS ESTOPPED
BY THE JUDGMENT AS FULLY AS IF HE HAD BEEN
A PARTY.

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